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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 
 
JACK A. HASTINGS, AN 
INDIVIDUAL, 
 
  Plaintiff 
 
 vs. 
 
THOMAS J. HASTINGS, 
INDIVIDUALLY AND AS TRUSTEE 
OF THE DORIS E. COSGROVE 
TRUST AND DOES 1-60, 
INCLUSIVE, 
 
  Defendants. 
 

 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
Case No.:  
 
COMPLAINT OF JACK A. HASTINGS 
FOR: 
 

1. BREACH OF FIDUCIARY 
DUTY; 

2. ACCOUNTING; 
3. CONVERSION;  
4. FRAUD AND DECEINT (NON-

DISCLOSURE TO FIDUCIARY); 
5. QUANTUM MERUIT; AND 
6. FINDING TRUSTEE DEFENSE 

OF ACCOUNT WITHOUT 
REASONABLE CAUSE AND IN 
BAD FAITH, AND 
SURCHARGING TRUSTEE AND 
ATTORNEYS� FEES [PROB. 
CODE § 17211(b)]. 

 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED. 

 
 Plaintiff, JACK A. HASTINGS (�Plaintiff�), alleges as follows: 

PARTIES AND VENUE 

1. Plaintiff, at all times mentioned herein, was and now is a beneficiary 

under the DORIS E. COSGROVE TRUST (�Trust�), created by written declaration of 

trust of DORIS E. COSGROVE (�Settlor�), deceased, a copy of which is attached 

hereto as Exhibit �1� and incorporated herein by this reference. 

REGIS A. GUERIN SBN 215170 
THE GUERIN LAW FIRM 
17752 Sky Park Circle, #235 
Irvine, California 92614 
Telephone: (949) 681-6023 
Facsimile:  (949) 656-7095 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
JACK A. HASTINGS 
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2. Pursuant to the terms of the Trust, Defendant THOMAS J. HASTINGS 

(�Defendant� or �Trustee�) is the successor to Settlor as Trustee of the Trust. 

3. Settlor is the mother of JOYCE E. HASTINGS (�Joyce�) and the 

grandmother of Plaintiff and Defendant.   

4. Settlor passed away on June 24, 1993, in Orange County, California. A 

probate case was opened on July 12, 1993 for Settlor, with Joyce as Executor.  

5. The real property that was the subject of the Trust was located on Daley 

Flat Road, Julian, California 92036 (�Julian Property�).  The Escrow Company that 

wired funds from the sale of the Julian Property to Defendant is located in Ramona, 

California. 

6.  Accordingly, venue is proper in this jurisdiction in that a substantial part 

of the property, events or omissions giving rise to the claim occurred in this judicial 

district (28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2)). 

THE TERMS OF THE TRUST 

7.   The Trust provides, in relevant part: 

a. �After death of the settlor, this trust becomes irrevocable and may not 

be altered or amended in any respect unless specifically authorized by 

this instrument.� 

b. The trustee of The Doris E. Cosgrove Trust and all subtrusts that may 

be created in this trust shall be Doris E. Cosgrove.  Upon the death of 

the trustee, or her incapacity as certified by a licensed physician, the 

successor trustee shall be Thomas J. Hastings, or if he is unable to 

serve, or continue serving, as successor trustee, the successor trustee 

shall be Jack A. Hastings.� 

c. �No trustee shall receive any compensation.� 

d. �Upon death of the settlor, the specific beneficiaries of The Doris E. 

Cosgrove Trust shall be: 

/ / / 
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 1. Thomas J. Hastings shall be given one-half ownership of the 

property described in Schedule A or, if Thomas J. Hastings  does�nt 

[sic] survive the settlor, that property shall be given to Joyce E. 

Hastings. 

 2. Jack A. Hastings shall be given one-half ownership of the 

property described in Schedule A or, if Jack A. Hastings  does�nt [sic] 

survive the settlor, that property shall be given to Joyce E. Hastings.� 

e. �Upon the death of the settlor, the trustee shall distribute the trust 

property outright to the beneficiaries named in Paragraphs V(A) and 

V(B). 

f. �The validity of The Doris E. Cosgrove Trust and the construction of 

its beneficial provisions shall be governed by the laws of California.� 

BREACH OF DUTIES 

8. Defendant took possession of the primary asset of the Trust, certain real 

property located on Daley Flat Road in Julian, California (�Julian Property�).  

Defendant permitted Joyce to live on the Julian Property until her death on November 

9, 2013.   

9. Since the date of death of the Settlor, Defendant has failed to provide any 

meaningful information to Plaintiff.  Defendant failed to provide Plaintiff with annual 

accountings and violated his duty under Probate Code section 16064 to account at 

least annually to Plaintiff, to whom income is required to be distributed.  The first 

time Defendant provided an accounting was in January, 2015. 

10. Defendant failed to advise Plaintiff of any loans made to Joyce for 

improvements to the Julian Property.  Defendant failed to advise Plaintiff of any 

expenditures made for the Julian Property. 

11. The Julian Property was sold on or about January 7, 2015 for the gross 

sales price of $650,000.00.  On information and belief, the net proceeds from the sale 

of the Julian Property were $570,813.48 (�Net Proceeds�).  The Net Proceeds are 
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currently being held by the Defendant.  A true and correct copy of the Seller�s Final 

Settlement Statement from Eagle Peak Escrow, Inc. is attached hereto as Exhibit �2� 

and incorporated herein by this reference. 

12. Prior to the sale of the Julian Property, at the direction of Defendant, 

Plaintiff spent approximately fifty (50) hours of time in getting the Julian Property 

ready for sale.  Plaintiff has not been compensated for his time in coordinating the 

move out of the current occupant, Jeff Philip, removal of personal property items, sale 

of personal property items, and related issues. 

13. On information and belief, the Julian Property was sold by Defendant at a 

�fire sale� price, and below market value.  Upon information and belief, Defendant 

failed to obtain an appraisal of the Julian Property upon the death of Settlor and prior 

to sale of the Julian Property.  

14. Defendant provided an accounting to Plaintiff, claiming that he loaned 

Joyce funds to improve the Julian Property.  Defendant provided virtually no back-up 

documentation for the expenditures purportedly made for the benefit of the Julian 

Property. 

15. Despite repeated demands, Defendant has failed to provide a full 

accounting of the purported expenditures for the Julian Property.  Despite repeated 

demands, Defendant has failed to turn over any of the funds currently being held by 

Defendant from the sale of the Julian Property, and even failed to turn over funds to 

Plaintiff that are not contested. 

16. On information and belief, Defendant falsified financial records of 

�loans� made to Joyce by adding notations on check stubs �Loan � Hoskins Ranch� 

well after payments were made to Joyce.  Additionally, Joyce was not trustee of the 

Trust and Defendant had no right to offset loans to Joyce from the Trust. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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17. Jeff Philip, the boyfriend of Joyce who lived at the Julian Property prior 

to sale, had no recollection of any loans made by Defendant to Joyce.  The only item 

of expense paid for by Defendant was a road improvement prior to the sale of the 

Julian Property. 

18. On information and belief, Defendant and/or Joyce, without the 

knowledge of Plaintiff, and without informing this Court, opened a secret probate 

action for Settlor, in Plymouth County, Massachusetts, case number PL00P6748-FE1, 

filed on May 3, 2000, closed on January 1, 2003.  Plaintiff is unaware of the 

disposition of any assets in the probate case of Settlor in Plymouth County. 

19. Settlor�s estate has or had other real properties in other states, but the full 

extent of the estate and Plaintiff�s rights in the Plymouth County probate case is 

unknown to Plaintiff at this time. 

20. During Plaintiff�s investigation into this case, it was discovered that 

Defendant forged the signature of Settlor on certain documents recorded with the 

Plymouth County Recorder�s Office. The documents were purportedly signed on 

July 24, 1993, however, Settlor passed away on June 24, 1993, a month earlier.  

Plaintiff is informed and believes that he may have in interest in the trusts referenced 

in these documents.  True and correct copies of the unofficial versions of these 

documents are attached hereto as Exhibit �3� and are incorporated herein by this 

reference. 

21. Defendant was, and still is, in a fiduciary relationship with Plaintiff as a 

beneficiary under the Trust and beneficiary under the Estate of Doris E. Cosgrove.  

Defendant has exclusive knowledge of the full extent of the Estate of Doris E. 

Cosgrove.  Defendant has been actively concealing the full extent of the Estate of 

Doris E. Cosgrove and has suppressed material facts about the Estate of Doris E. 

Cosgrove, including the existence of subtrusts or other trusts that own substantial real 

property. 

/ / / 
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

Breach Of Fiduciary Duty 

(As Against Defendant and Does 1-10) 

22. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1 through 21 inclusive, and by this 

reference incorporates the same as though fully set forth herein. 

23. Defendant as Trustee of the Trust, stands in a fiduciary relationship with 

Plaintiff. 

24. Defendant breached his fiduciary duty by the following: 

a. Since the date of death of the Settlor, Defendant has failed to provide 

any meaningful information to Plaintiff.  Defendant failed to provide 

Plaintiff with annual accountings and violated his duty under Probate 

Code section 16064 to account at least annually to Plaintiff, to whom 

income is required to be distributed.   

b. Defendant failed to advise Plaintiff of any loans made to Joyce for 

improvements to the Julian Property.  Defendant failed to advise 

Plaintiff of any expenditures made for the Julian Property. 

c. Defendants failed to turn over Plaintiff�s fifty percent (50%) share of 

the Net Proceeds, currently being held by the Defendant.  

d. Defendant sold the Julian Property at a �fire sale� price, and below 

market value.   

e. Defendant failed to obtain an appraisal of the Julian Property upon the 

death of Settlor and prior to sale of the Julian Property.  

f. Defendant provided an accounting to Plaintiff, claiming that he loaned 

Joyce funds to improve the Julian Property.  Defendant provided 

virtually no back-up documentation for the expenditures purportedly 

made for the benefit of the Julian Property. 

g. Despite repeated demands, Defendant has failed to provide a full 

accounting of the purported expenditures for the Julian Property.   
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h. Despite repeated demands, Defendant has failed to turn over any of 

the funds currently being held by Defendant from the sale of the 

Julian Property, and even failed to turn over funds to Plaintiff that are 

not contested. 

i. On information and belief, Defendant falsified financial records of 

�loans� made to Joyce by adding notations on check stubs �Loan � 

Hoskins Ranch� well after payments were made to Joyce.  

Additionally, Joyce was not trustee of the Trust and Defendant had no 

right to offset loans to Joyce from the Trust. 

j. On information and belief, Defendant and/or Joyce, without the 

knowledge of Plaintiff, and without informing this Court, opened a 

secret probate action for Settlor, in Plymouth County, Massachusetts, 

case number PL00P6748-FE1, filed on May 3, 2000, closed on 

January 1, 2003.  Plaintiff is unaware of the disposition of any assets 

in the probate case of Settlor in Plymouth County. 

k. Settlor�s estate has or had other real properties in other states, but the 

full extent of the estate and Plaintiff�s rights in the Plymouth County 

probate case is unknown to Plaintiff at this time. 

l. During Plaintiff�s investigation into this case, it was discovered that 

Defendant forged the signature of Settlor on certain documents 

recorded with the Plymouth County Recorder�s Office. The 

documents were purportedly signed on July 24, 1993, however, 

Settlor passed away on June 24, 1993, a month earlier.  Plaintiff is 

informed and believes that he may have in interest in the trusts 

referenced in these documents.   

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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m. Defendant has been actively concealing the full extent of the Estate of 

Doris E. Cosgrove and has suppressed material facts about the Estate 

of Doris E. Cosgrove, including the existence of subtrusts or other 

trusts that own substantial real property. 

25. Defendant�s actions as set forth hereinabove have caused Plaintiff to 

suffer damages in the approximate amount of $285,406.74. 

26. Plaintiff is informed and believes and based thereon alleges that in doing 

the acts complained of herein, Defendant acted with oppression, fraud, and/or malice 

within the meaning of California Civil Code section 3294. Plaintiff is entitled to 

recover punitive damages against Defendant in a sum sufficient to punish Plaintiff for 

his despicable conduct herein. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

Accounting 

(As Against Defendant and Does 11-20) 

27. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1 through 21, and 23 through 26 inclusive, 

and by this reference incorporates the same as though fully set forth herein. 

28. Defendant violated the duty to keep Plaintiff reasonably informed of the 

Trust and its administration. 

29. Defendant violated his duty under Probate Code section 16064 to provide 

the Plaintiff with a report of information about the assets, liabilities, receipts, and 

disbursements of the Trust, the acts of the Trustee, and the particulars relating to the 

administration of the Trust relevant to Plaintiff�s interest. 

30. Defendant violated his duty under Probate Code section 16064, the 

trustee shall account at least annually, at the termination of the trust, and upon a 

change of trustee, to each beneficiary to whom income or principal is required or 

authorized in the trustee’s discretion to be currently distributed.� 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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31. Accordingly, Plaintiff requests an Order determining distribution of the 

$570,813.48, settling the account and instructing Defendant to make full payment to 

Plaintiff of his half interest in the funds from the sale of the Julian Property.  (Prob. 

Code §§ 17200(b)(4)(5)(6)), and an Order compelling Defendant to provide a full 

accounting of the Trust, with receipts from vendors who purportedly improved the 

Julian Property, and a full accounting of all assets of Settlor that should have been 

administered in this Probate case or in an authorized ancillary probate. (Prob. Code § 

17200(b)(7)(C)). 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

Conversion 

(As Against Defendant and Does 21-30) 

32. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1 through 21, 23 through 26, and 28 

through 31, inclusive, and by this reference incorporates the same as though fully set 

forth herein. 

33. By virtue of his being named a beneficiary of the Trust, Plaintiff has an 

absolute right to possession of one-half of the Net Proceeds from the sale of the Julian 

Property. 

34. Defendant has wrongfully refused to remit any of the funds from the Net 

Proceeds of the sale of the Julian Property. 

35. Defendant�s actions as set forth hereinabove have caused Plaintiff to 

suffer damages in the approximate amount of $285,406.74. 

36. Plaintiff is informed and believes and based thereon alleges that in doing 

the acts complained of herein, Defendant acted with oppression, fraud, and/or malice 

within the meaning of California Civil Code section 3294. Plaintiff is entitled to 

recover punitive damages against Defendant in a sum sufficient to punish Plaintiff for 

his despicable conduct herein. 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Fraud And Deceit 

(As Against Defendant and Does 31-40) 

37. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1 through 21, 23 through 26, 28 through 31, 

and 33 through 36, inclusive, and by this reference incorporates the same as though 

fully set forth herein. 

38. Defendant as Trustee of the Trust, stands in a fiduciary relationship with 

Plaintiff. 

39. By virtue of his being named Trustee of the Trust, Defendant has 

exclusive knowledge of the assets of the Trust and assets of the Estate of Doris E. 

Cosgrove. 

40. On information and belief, Defendant falsified financial records of 

�loans� made to Joyce by adding notations on check stubs �Loan � Hoskins Ranch� 

well after payments were made to Joyce.  Additionally, Joyce was not trustee of the 

Trust and Defendant had no right to offset loans to Joyce from the Trust. 

41. Jeff Philip, the boyfriend of Joyce who lived at the Julian Property prior 

to sale, had no recollection of any loans made by Defendant to Joyce.  The only item 

of expense paid for by Defendant was a road improvement prior to the sale of the 

Julian Property. 

42. On information and belief, Defendant and/or Joyce, without the 

knowledge of Plaintiff, and without informing this Court, opened a secret probate 

action for Settlor, in Plymouth County, Massachusetts, case number PL00P6748-FE1, 

filed on May 3, 2000, closed on January 1, 2003.  Plaintiff is unaware of the 

disposition of any assets in the probate case of Settlor in Plymouth County. 

43. Settlor�s estate has or had other real properties in other states, but the full 

extent of the estate and Plaintiff�s rights in the Plymouth County probate case is 

unknown to Plaintiff at this time. 

/ / / 
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44. During Plaintiff�s investigation into this case, it was discovered that 

Defendant forged the signature of Settlor on certain documents recorded with the 

Plymouth County Recorder�s Office. The documents were purportedly signed on 

July 24, 1993, however, Settlor passed away on June 24, 1993, a month earlier.  

Plaintiff is informed and believes that he may have in interest in the trusts referenced 

in these documents.  True and correct copies of the unofficial versions of these 

documents are attached hereto as Exhibit �3� and are incorporated herein by this 

reference. 

45. Defendant was, and still is, in a fiduciary relationship with Plaintiff as a 

beneficiary under the Trust and beneficiary under the Estate of Doris E. Cosgrove.  

Defendant has exclusive knowledge of the full extent of the Estate of Doris E. 

Cosgrove.  Defendant has been actively concealing the full extent of the Estate of 

Doris E. Cosgrove and has suppressed material facts about the Estate of Doris E. 

Cosgrove, including the existence of subtrusts or other trusts that own substantial real 

property. Defendant�s actions as set forth hereinabove have caused Plaintiff to suffer 

damages in an amount to be proven at trial. 

46. Plaintiff is informed and believes and based thereon alleges that in doing 

the acts complained of herein, Defendant acted with oppression, fraud, and/or malice 

within the meaning of California Civil Code section 3294. Plaintiff is entitled to 

recover punitive damages against Defendant in a sum sufficient to punish Plaintiff for 

his despicable conduct herein. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Quantum Meruit 

(As Against Defendant and Does 41-50) 

47. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1 through 21, 23 through 26, 28 through 31, 

33 through 36, and 38 through 46, inclusive, and by this reference incorporates the 

same as though fully set forth herein. 

/ / / 
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48. Prior to the sale of the Julian Property, at the direction of Defendant, 

Plaintiff spent approximately fifty (50) hours of time in getting the Julian Property 

ready for sale.  Plaintiff has not been compensated for his time in coordinating the 

move out of the current occupant, Jeff Philip, removal of personal property items, sale 

of personal property items, and related issues. 

49. The services rendered benefitted the Defendant, as he was able to sell the 

Julian Property and to date, has kept and secreted for himself, one hundred percent 

(100%) of the Net Proceeds. 

50. It is inequitable for Defendant to keep the Net Proceeds and benefit 

entirely from the work of Plaintiff without payment to Plaintiff for his valuable 

services rendered. 

51. Plaintiff is entitled to a reasonable rate of compensation at $75.00 per 

hour for a total of $3,750.00 due from Defendant�s share of the Net Proceeds. 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Finding Trustee Defense Of Account In Bad Faith  

And Surcharging Trustee and Attorneys� Fees 

 (As Against Defendant and Does 41-50) 

52. Plaintiff realleges paragraphs 1 through 21, 23 through 26, 28 through 31, 

33 through 36, 38 through 46, and 48 through 51, inclusive, and by this reference 

incorporates the same as though fully set forth herein. 

53. Defendant violated the duty to keep Plaintiff reasonably informed of the 

Trust and its administration. 

54. Defendant violated his duty under Probate Code section 16064 to provide 

the Plaintiff with a report of information about the assets, liabilities, receipts, and 

disbursements of the Trust, the acts of the Trustee, and the particulars relating to the 

administration of the Trust relevant to Plaintiff�s interest. 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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55. Defendant violated his duty under Probate Code section 16064, the 

trustee shall account at least annually, at the termination of the trust, and upon a 

change of trustee, to each beneficiary to whom income or principal is required or 

authorized in the trustee’s discretion to be currently distributed.�  

56. Defendant violated his duty under Probate Code section 16004 to refrain 

from using or dealing with Trust property for Defendant�s own profit or for any other 

purpose unconnected with the Trust, and for taking part in transactions in which 

Defendant has an interest adverse to the Plaintiff.  Defendant continues to collect 

interest on the $570,813.48 for his own account and benefit. 

57. Defendant and Plaintiff engaged in settlement negotiations regarding the 

disbursement of funds wherein Plaintiff would be paid the sum of $200,000.00, 

immediately, provided that Defendant paid for all taxes attributable to Plaintiff as a 

result of the distribution (capital gains, etc.).  Defendant then stated he was unwilling 

to pay for such taxes and refused to execute a settlement agreement proposed by 

Plaintiff, and despite negotiations, no settlement was reached. 

58. Defendant is aware that Plaintiff needs the funds desperately due to 

impending medical procedures and medical issues of Plaintiff�s wife and son.   

59. Accordingly, Plaintiff requests an Order/Judgment from this Court as 

follows: 

a. An Order determining distribution of the $570,813.48, settling the 

account and instructing Defendant to make full payment to Plaintiff of 

his half interest in the funds from the sale of the Julian Property.  

(Prob. Code §§ 17200(b)(4)(5)(6).) 

b. An Order compelling Defendant to provide a full accounting of the 

Trust, with receipts from vendors who purportedly improved the 

Julian Property, and a full accounting of all assets of Settlor that 

should have been administered in this Probate case or in an authorized 

ancillary probate. (Prob. Code § 17200(b)(7)(C).) 
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c. An Order removing Defendant as Trustee due to his breach of 

fiduciary duty to Plaintiff and installing Plaintiff in as Trustee to 

effectuate distribution of the funds from the sale of the Julian 

Property.  (Prob. Code §§ 17200(b)(10)(12).) 

d. An Order surcharging Defendant with Plaintiff�s attorneys� fees for 

his bad faith defense of the scant accounting provided without 

virtually any supporting documentation and for falsification of records 

(Prob. Code § 17211(b).) 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for Judgment as follows: 

ON THE FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION: 

A. For damages in the sum of $285,406.74, the exact amount to be proven at 

trial; 

B. For punitive damages in an amount to be proven at trial; 

C. For costs of suit incurred herein; and 

D. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

ON THE SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION: 

A. For a full and complete accounting for the Trust; 

B. For costs of suit incurred herein; and 

C. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

ON THE THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION: 

A. For damages in the sum of $285,406.74, the exact amount to be proven at 

trial; 

B. For punitive damages in an amount to be proven at trial; 

C. For costs of suit incurred herein; and 

D. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

ON THE FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION: 

A. For damages in an amount to be proven at trial; 

B. For punitive damages in an amount to be proven at trial; 
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C. For costs of suit incurred herein; and 

D. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

ON THE FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION: 

A. For damages in the sum of $3750.00, the exact amount to be proven at 

trial; 

B. For costs of suit incurred herein; and 

C. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

ON THE SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION: 

A. An Order determining distribution of the $570,813.48, settling the 

account and instructing Defendant to make full payment to Plaintiff of his half interest 

in the funds from the sale of the Julian Property.  (Prob. Code §§ 17200(b)(4)(5)(6)); 

B. An Order compelling Defendant to provide a full accounting of the Trust, 

with receipts from vendors who purportedly improved the Julian Property, and a full 

accounting of all assets of Settlor that should have been administered in this Probate 

case or in an authorized ancillary probate. (Prob. Code § 17200(b)(7)(C)); 

C. An Order removing Defendant as Trustee due to his breach of fiduciary 

duty to Plaintiff and installing Plaintiff in as Trustee to effectuate distribution of the 

funds from the sale of the Julian Property.  (Prob. Code §§ 17200(b)(10)(12)); 

D. An Order surcharging Defendant with Plaintiff�s attorneys� fees for his 

bad faith defense of the scant accounting provided without virtually any supporting 

documentation and for falsification of records (Prob. Code § 17211(b)); 

E. For costs; and  

F. For such other orders as the Court may deem just and proper. 

Dated:  July 16, 2015    THE GUERIN LAW FIRM 

         
      By: ___________________________ 
       REGIS A. GUERIN 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
JACK A. HASTINGS
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